
1 Title 18, U.S.C. §1084 states, in pertinent part: “(a) Whoever being engaged in the
business of betting or wagering knowingly uses a wire communication facility for the
transmission in interstate or foreign commerce of bets or wagers or information assisting in the
placing of bets or wagers on any sporting event or contest, or for the transmission of a wire
communication which entitles the recipient to receive money or credit as a result of bets or
wagers, or for information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers, shall be fined under this
title or imprisoned not more than two years, or both.
(b) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent the transmission in interstate or foreign
commerce of information for use in news reporting of sporting events or contests, or for the
transmission of information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers on a sporting event or
contest from a State or foreign country where betting on that sporting event or contest is legal
into a State or foreign country in which such betting is legal.
(c) Nothing contained in this section shall create immunity from criminal prosecution under any
laws of any State.”

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)

Plaintiff, ) No.  4:06CR00337 CEJ/MLM
v. )

)
BETONSPORTS PLC, et al., )

)
Defendants. )

____________________________________)

GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT GARY KAPLAN’S
MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTS 3 TO 12 OF THE SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

The United States, through counsel undersigned, hereby responds to defendant Gary

Kaplan’s motion to dismiss (Doc. #447) Counts 3 to 12 of the Superseding Indictment, which

allege violations of Title 18, United States Code, §1084, the Wire Wager Act.1  The defendant’s

objections to these charges are not supported in law or in fact, and the defendant’s motion should

be denied.
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2 “The following must be raised before trial: (B) a motion alleging a defect in the
indictment or information – but at any time while case is pending, the court may hear a claim
that the indictment or information fails to invoke the court’s jurisdiction or to state an offense.”

2

I. THE DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN THAT THE SUPERSEDING
INDICTMENT IS INSUFFICIENT ON ITS FACE

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b) requires that a motion alleging a defect in an

indictment be raised prior to trial, while allowing a claim that the indictment fails to allege an

offense or engage the court’s jurisdiction to be raised at any time.2  As stated by the Eighth

Circuit Court of Appeals (quoting Hagner v. United States, 285 U.S. 427, 431, 52 S.Ct. 417 ,

419, 76 L.Ed.2d 861 (1932):

The true test of the sufficiency of an indictment is not whether it could have been
made more definite and certain, but whether it contains the elements of the
offense intended to be charged, and sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he
must be prepared to meet, and, in case any other proceedings are taken against
him for a similar offense, whether the record shows with accuracy to what extent
he may plead a former acquittal or conviction.

United States v. Goldberg, 225 F.2d 180, 184 (8th Cir. 1955); see also United States v. Carter,

270 F.3d 731, 736 (8th Cir. 2001).  

Rule 7(c) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure states that an indictment “must be a

plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense

charged.”  

The sufficiency of an indictment should be judged by practical, and not by
technical, considerations.  It is nothing but the formal charge upon which an
accused is brought to trial.  An indictment which fairly informs the accused of the
charge which he is required to meet and which is sufficiently specific to avoid the
danger of his again being prosecuted for the same offense should be held good.

Hanf v. United States, 235 F.2d 710, 714 (8th Cir. 1956). 
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3 Floor statements by members of Congress are given less weight than other types of
legislative history.  Kenna v. United States District Court for C.D. Cal., 435 F.2d 1011, 1015 (9th

Cir. 2006).   When using extrinsic aids to interpret a statute, official committee reports provide
an authoritative expression of legislation intent.  “A committee report, representing a collective
statement by the drafters about the intended purpose of proposed legislation, is considered a
particularly good indicator of congressional intent when it is otherwise difficult to ascertain.” 
Pierpoint v. Barnes, 94 F.3d 813, 817 (2nd Cir. 1996).  

3

II. COUNTS 3 TO 12 ADEQUATELY ALLEGE VIOLATIONS OF THE
WIRE WAGER ACT

A. The Wire Wager Act is Not Limited to Sports Wagers

The defendant claims that the Wire Wager Act is limited to illegal sports betting, and

does not apply to other types of gambling.  In support of this position, the defendant cites the

only federal court decision the directly states that the Wire Wager Act applies only to sports

betting; In re MasterCard Intern. Inc., Internet Gambling Litigation, 132 F.Supp.2d 468 (E.D. La.

2001), aff’d. 313 F.3d 257 (5th Cir. 2002).  The MasterCard case involved a civil RICO claim

brought against the credit card company in an attempt to recoup monies paid to illegal Internet

gambling web sites.  The trial court and the Fifth Circuit relied primarily on legislation then

pending in Congress in determining that the Wire Wager Act was limited to sports betting.  This

basis no longer exists.  The legislation referred to was never enacted.  Additionally, the

legislative history of §1084 is not limited to that cited by the MasterCard Court.  The House

Report on the Wire Wager Act, more authoritative than the floor speeches of the Members,3

states, in pertinent part:

The purpose of the bill is to assist the various States and the District of Columbia
in the enforcement of their laws pertaining to gambling, bookmaking and like
offenses and to aid in the suppression of organized gambling activities by
prohibiting the use of wire communication facilities which are or will be used for
the transmission of bets or wagers and gambling information in interstate and
foreign commerce.   
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In October of 2006, Congress passed the Prohibition on Funding of Unlawful Internet

Gambling, Title 31, United States Code, §§5361 to 5367.  This statute defines “bet or wager,” as

§1084 does not.  The statute states, in pertinent part:

The term ‘bet or wager’ -- (A) means the staking or risking by any person of
something of value upon the outcome of a contest of others, a sporting event, or a
game subject to chance, upon an agreement or understanding that the person or
another person will receive something of value in the event of a certain outcome;
[] [and] (D) includes any instructions or information pertaining to the
establishment or movement of funds by the bettor or customer in, to or from an
account with the business of betting or wagering; . . .    

Section 5361 also contains a “rule of construction,” which states: “No provision of this

subchapter shall be construed as altering, limiting, or extending any Federal or State law or

Tribal-State compact prohibiting, permitting, or regulating gambling within the United States.” 

Pursuant to this rule, Congress must have considered non-sports wagering on the Internet to be

illegal at the time this legislation was passed.  Therefore, the Fifth Circuit conclusion regarding

the application of the Wire Wager Act is not supported, and should not be relied upon in this

case.  

In construing the terms of the Wire Wager Act, the Court should look first to the terms of

the statute itself.  Under §1084’s disjunctive language, §1084(a) creates two distinct offenses: (1)

a broad prohibition on the use of a wire communication facility for the interstate transmission of

(a) bets or wagers, and (b) information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers on sporting

events or contests; and (2) a prohibition on the interstate transmission of a wire communication

that entitles the recipient to receive money or credit (a) as a result of bets or wagers, or (b)

information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers.  There is nothing in the statute to suggest

that the subordinate clauses are modified by the term “sporting event or contest.”
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Civil enforcement provisions of the Wire Wager Act support application of the statute to

gambling in general, and not simply sports betting.  Section 1084(d), which provides that law

enforcement agencies can require common carriers to stop carrying interstate gambling

communications, refers only to “gambling information.”  It does not make any sense that

Congress would make such transmissions subject to restraint, but exempt them from criminal

prosecution.  

The Eighth Circuit Court agreed with this reasoning in a recently decided case.  In United

States v. Bala, 489 F.3d 334, 342 (8th Cir. 2007) the Court stated:

The prohibition in §1084(a) encompasses bets and wagers as well as information
assisting bets and wagers, whereas the exception in §1084(b) is limited to
information assisting bets and wagers. Thus, the plain language suggests that
Congress intended to prohibit all interstate wagering by wire, whether or not legal
in the States between which the bets are transmitted. There is explicit support for
this interpretation in the legislative history. See H. Rep. No. 87-967 (1961), as
reprinted in 1961 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2631, 2633. One unreported case reflects a
federal indictment broadly construing §1084 in this fashion, and the district court
denying defendant’s motion to dismiss. See United States v. Ross, No. 98 CR.
1174-1(KMV), 1999 WL 782749, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Sept.16, 1999). Two circuits
have addressed the scope of the § 1084(b) exception without deciding this issue.
See United States v. Cohen, 260 F.3d 68, 73-74 (2d Cir.2001); Sterling Suffolk
Racecourse Ltd. P'ship v. Burrillville Racing Ass’n, Inc., 989 F.2d 1266, 1272-73
(1st Cir.1993). 

A familiar rule of statutory construction requires courts to give effect to each clause of a

statute.  See Clark v. Arizona, ___U.S.___,126 S.Ct. 2709, 2723, n. 24, 165 L.Ed.2d 842 (2006).

If Congress had intended to limit the application of the Wire Wager Act to sports betting alone, it

would have said so.  As written, the Act does not state such a limitation.

A familiar principle of statutory construction is that a negative inference may be
drawn from the exclusion of language from one statutory provision that is
included in other provisions of the same statute. (‘[W]here Congress includes
particular language in one section of a statute but omits it in another section of the
same Act, it is generally presumed that Congress acts intentionally and purposely
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4 The Wire Wager Act Counts in the Superseding Indictment allege the following
transmissions: Counts 3, 4, and 5 - telephone transmissions of instructions for opening wagering
accounts and directions to send money to wagering accounts; Counts 6, 7 & 8 - telephone
transmissions of instructions to send money to wagering accounts; Count 9 - Internet

6

in the disparate inclusion or exclusion.’)

Hamdan v. Rumsfeld, ___ U.S. ___, 126 S.Ct. 2749, 2765-66, 165 L.Ed.2d 723 (2006).  The

plain language of the Wire Wager Act prohibits “the transmission of a wire communication

which entitles the recipient to receive money or credit as a result of bets or wagers, or for

information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers.”  Therefore, the Wire Wager Act applies

to such information concerning all “bets or wagers.”

The defendant claims that the MasterCard court depended upon applicable case law, in

addition to its analysis of legislative matters to reach its conclusion regarding the scope of

§1084.  However, none of the cases cited by the Court or the defendant addressed the question of

what types of betting and wagering the statute encompassed.  The cases simply ruled that the

Wire Wager Act applied to sports bets; they did not rule that §1084 did not apply to other types

of wagers.  

B. The Charges in Counts 3 to 12 Allege Transmissions that
Violate the Wire Wager Act

The defendant claims that the transmissions alleged in Counts 3 to 12 of the Superseding

Indictment fail to qualify as: (1) bets or wagers; (2) information assisting in the placing of bets or

wagers on any sporting event or contest; (3) information which entitles the recipient to receive

money or credit as a result of bets or wagers; or (4) information assisting in the placing of bets or

wagers.  In fact, all of the transmissions fall directly into one or more of the categories stated

above.4   
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communication to confirm a wagering account balance; Counts 10 & 11 - transmission of
wagers; Count 12 - telephone transmission requested withdrawal of money from a wagering
account.

7

The defendant claims that the transmissions alleged in the Superseding Indictment are

only “tangential” to wagering, and that the Wire Wager Act, which must be narrowly construed,

does not prohibit them.  In support of this claim, the defendant cites to United States v.

Wiltberger, 18 U.S. 76, 5 L.Ed. 37 (1820).  This venerable case involved a prosecution for

manslaughter that occurred on board an American vessel cruising a river in China.  The Court

held that it had no jurisdiction over the matter, finding that the reach of U.S. criminal statutes

could not be stretched so far.

The rule that penal laws are to be construed strictly, is perhaps not much less old
than construction itself.  It is founded on the tenderness of the law for the rights of
individuals; and on the plain principle that the power of punishment is vested in
the legislative, not the judicial department. . . . 
It is said, that not withstanding this rule, the intention of the law maker governs in
the construction of penal, as well as other statutes. . . . The maxim is not to be so
applied as to narrow the words of the statute to the exclusion of cases which those
words, in their ordinary acceptation, or in that sense in which the legislature has
obviously used them, would comprehend.  The intention of the legislature is to be
collected from the words they employ.  Where there is no ambiguity in the words,
there is no room for construction. 

Wiltberger, 18 U.S. at 95-96.  

In this case, application of the Wire Wager Act is quite clear.  There is no ambiguity in

the statute.  Therefore, there is no basis for statutory construction to artificially narrow its

application.  See also United States v. McCall, 439 F.3d 967, 971 (8th Cir. 2006), en banc

decision (“When a statute’s plain language is clear, it is controlling, without regard to contrary

hints in the legislative history and without the need to refer to the canons of noscitur a sociis and
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5 “Ejusdem generis - Latin - ‘of the same kind or class’ - a canon of construction . . .’;
Noscitur a sociis - Latin - ‘it is known by its associates’ - a canon of construction . . .’” Black’s
Law Dictionary (8th Ed. 2004).

6 Please refer to the Magistrate Judge’s Report and Recommendation, Doc. #339, filed on
May 7, 2007, and the Government’s Response to defendant Carruthers’ objection thereto, Doc.
#___, filed this date and herein incorporated by reference.

8

ejusdem generis.”)5 (citation omitted). 

The defendant claims the right to have the Wire Wager Act construed pursuant to the rule

of lenity, which he describes as a “tie-breaker” to be employed when the Government and the

defense are at odds regarding the meaning of a statute.  In the defendant’s view, the “tie” would

always go to the defense.  This is not the meaning or valid application of the rule of lenity. 

United States v. White, 888 F.2d 490, 497 (7th Cir. 1989) (“The rule of lenity is a tie-breaker

when there is an otherwise unresolved ambiguity.”); United States v. Montgomery, 14 F.3d

1189, 1198, n. 8 (7th Cir. 1994) (“the rule should not be applied where it would conflict with the

implied or expressed intent of Congress; rather, it provides an interpretive guideline where

Congressional intent is unclear.”)  

The defendant claims that the allegations in Counts 3 to 12 are deficient because they do

not allude specifically to wagering on sports or sporting events.  First, the Wire Wager Act is not

limited to sports betting, as the Magistrate Judge has already determined.6  Second, the

Superseding Indictment does allege that the Gambling Enterprise and the defendant conducted

sports betting.  Counts 3 to 12, alleged in ¶39 of the Superseding Indictment, state that the

unlawful communications involved, among other topics, transmissions relating to sports betting. 

Additionally, Counts 3 to 12 incorporate ¶¶19, 27 and 32 of the Superseding Indictment. 

Paragraph 19 states that the Gambling Enterprise “offer[ed], facilitat[ed] and conduct[ed]
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7 Federal Jury Practice And Instructions § 44.03 (5th ed.).

9

unlawful computer and telephone service based sports betting . . . [and] caused the operation of

toll-free telephone services to facilitate sports gambling, and take sports bets.” Paragraph 27

alleges that the Gambling Enterprise “solicited millions of illegal bets on sports and sporting

events . . . .” Paragraph 32 states that the Gambling Enterprise “illegally accept[ed] and

record[ed] millions of sports wagers . . . and . . . transmitt[ed] information facilitating the

acceptance of illegal wagers . . . .”  These allegations are sufficient to charge the offense, even 

under the defendants unjustifiably narrowed interpretation of the Wire Wager Act.  

In determining whether an essential element has been omitted a court will not
insist that any particular word or phrase appear, and the element may be alleged
‘in any form’ which substantially states the element.  

United States v. Camp, 541 F.2d 737, 740 (8th Cir. 1976).

Even if the Superseding Indictment did not specifically allege that the communications

concerned sports wagers, the precise circumstances of each communication is a matter for proof

at trial.  The failure of the United States to prove that the transmissions concerned matters

covered by the Wire Wager Act would support the grant of a motion pursuant to Federal Rule of

Criminal Procedure 29.  Prior to that point, however, the allegations in the Superseding

Indictment are sufficient to allow the Government to present the case to a jury.  

The essential elements of a Wire Wager Act violation are: (1) the defendant was engaged

in the business of accepting bets or wagers; (2) the defendant used a wire communication facility

 to receive or transmit bets or to receive or transmit information useful in accepting or placing

bets; (3) the transmission was in interstate or foreign commerce, and (4) the defendant knew that

the transmission was in interstate or foreign commerce.7  The type of wagering is not an element
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8 The gravamen of the Truchinski opinion was a response to the defendant’s First
Amendment claim.

10

of the offense, and need not be alleged in an indictment.  See United States v. Pemberton, 121

F.3d 1157, 1169 (8th Cir. 1997).

C. The Phrase ‘Information Assisting in the Placing of Bets or
Wagers’ in the Wire Wager Act is to be Read Broadly to
Effectuate the Purposes of the Statute

The defendant claims that, pursuant to the rule of lenity, the phrase “information assisting

in the placing of bets or wagers” in the Wire Wager Act must be read narrowly.  However, the

defendant does not state how this phrase is ambiguous, and why the Court could not determine,

from a plain reading of the statute and the Superseding Indictment, whether the transmissions

alleged in Counts 3 to 12 come within its meaning.  In support of his claim, the defendant cites to

Truchinski v. United States, 393 F.2d 627 (8th Cir. 1968).  The defendant argues that the

determining factor in Truchinski, where only one of the calls actually involved placing a bet,

centered on the fact that a bet was actually placed.  This conclusion is not supported by the

opinion  in Truchinski,8 or any other applicable case law.

The Wire Wager Act prohibits the transmission of bets, and the transmission of

“information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers.”  The statute does not prohibit the

transmission of “information resulting in the placing of bets or wagers.”  For example, in the

case of United States v. Scavo, 593 F.2d 837 (8th Cir. 1979), the defendant admitted that he

transmitted line information in interstate commerce, but claimed that he wasn’t engaged in the

business of betting or wagering, and therefore was not in violation of §1084.  The Court upheld

the defendant’s conviction, stating that:
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the evidence showed that appellant furnished line information to [the bookmaker]
on a regular basis; that [the bookmaker] relied on this information; that some sort
of financial arrangement existed between appellant and [the bookmaker]; that
appellant was fully aware of [the bookmaker’s] bookmaking operation; and that
accurate and up-to-date line information is of critical importance to any
bookmaking operation.  

Scavo, 593 F.2d at 842.  There is no allegation that the defendant in Scavo ever took a bet, or

that the information he transmitted resulted in a particular wager.

In a Second Circuit case, the Court found that a defendant who ran his bookmaking

operation via a message service was transmitting “information assisting in the placing of bets or

wagers” prior to the point when bets were actually taken.  “The telephone calls to the [message

number] informed [the defendant] that someone was ready to place a bet and how that person

could be reached.  This is certainly ‘information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers’ within

the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1084.”  United States v. Kelley, 395 F.2d 727, 729 (2nd Cir. 1968).

In another Second Circuit case, the defendant was convicted of violating §1084 under

circumstances similar to those in this case.  Jay Cohen, who operated an offshore Internet sports

book, was convicted of violating all three of the prohibitive clauses of the statute.  “Cohen

appeal[ed] the district court’s instructions to the jury regarding what constitutes a bet per se.

Cohen argues that under [his sports book’s] account-wagering system, the transmissions between

[his sports book] and its customers contained only information that enabled [the sports book]

itself to place bets entirely from customer accounts located in Antigua.”  United States v. Cohen,

260 F.3d 68, 74 (2nd Cir. 2001).  The Court ruled that the distinction was immaterial, given

testimony regarding how the defendant’s sports book operated: “Section 1084(a) prohibits the

transmission of information assisting in the placing of bets as well as the transmission of bets

themselves.”  Id. at 75.
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9 “Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent the transmission in interstate or
foreign commerce of . . . information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers on a sporting
event or contest from a State or foreign country where betting on that sporting event or contest is
legal into a State or foreign country in which such betting is legal.”

10 “Unpublished opinions issued on or after January 1, 2007, may be cited in accordance
with FRAP 32.1.” 8th Cir. Rule 32.1A 

12

In United States v. Bala, 489 F.3d 334 (8th Cir. 2007), the Eighth Circuit Court

considered an appeal from §§1084 and 1955 convictions.  Bala operated Racing Services, Inc.

(“RSI”), a contractor authorized by North Dakota statute to operate an “account wagering”

system for North Dakota’s off-track betting licensees.  Under State law, only charities could be

licensed to operate off-track betting businesses, and the proceeds from such operations were

subject to fees and taxes due to the State.  According to the indictment in Bala, RSI took in close

to $100,000 in wager account bets, without paying a penny to any charity or the State of North

Dakota.  The Eighth Circuit Court found that, while RSI’s failure to turn money over to licensee

charities and to pay taxes may have been criminal, the underlying gambling business was

authorized by State statute, and was therefore legal.  Regarding the §1084(a) charge, the Court

ruled that, unless there was evidence that the calls originated in a place where such wagering was

not legal, they were safeguarded by the exemption in §1084(b).9 

The case of United State v. Ross, 1999 WL 782749 (S.D.N.Y. 1999), cited by the Eighth

Circuit in Bala, is unreported, and therefore not precedent.  However, the circumstances in Ross

are very similar to the circumstances in this case, and the ruling may be helpful to the Court.10  In

Ross, the defendant was charged with violation of 18 U.S.C. §§371 and 1084, and moved to

dismiss the indictment against him on several grounds, including the “safe harbor” in §1084(b)

for the transmission of wagering information.  The district court determined that transmissions in
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which gamblers placed a bet funded from a wagering account were “bets” under §1084(a), and

therefore not eligible for the protection of subsection (b).    

The defendant claims that the Superseding Indictment is insufficient, because Counts 3

through 12 do not state that wagering accounts were ever actually opened, or that bets were

actually made.  This is incorrect.  These allegations are clearly stated in ¶¶19, 27 and 32,

incorporated by reference into Counts 3 through 12 of the Superseding Indictment.  For example,

¶19 states that the Gambling Enterprise “[took] sports bets.”  Paragraph 27 states that the

Gambling Enterprise “solicited million of illegal bets on sports and sporting events from

gamblers in the United States. . . .”  Paragraph 32 states that the Gambling Enterprise “illegally

accept[ed] and record[ed] millions of sports wagers from gamblers in the United States, . . .” 

The deficiencies claimed by the defendant do not exist, and if they did, they would still not

provide adequate basis for dismissal of the Superseding Indictment. 

The defendant further claims that the Superseding Indictment unlawfully expands the

application of §1084(a) to include legal conduct.  The defendant provides two scenarios to

illustrate his point: in both, an entirely innocent individual would apparently be in violation of

§1084.  In both examples, however, there is intervening conduct that removes the transmissions

from the ambit of the statute.  In both scenarios, the gamblers traveled to a location where 

wagering was legal in order to place their bets. There was, in fact, no communication regarding

betting or wagering in either of the defendant’s examples.  The communications involved renting

a room, or transferring money, not betting or wagering.    
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The defendant argues that he cannot be held to answer on charges that he violated the

Wire Wager Act because the Superseding Indictment does not allege that each use of a wire

communication facility resulted in a bet.  He then argues that anyone could be held to answer on

a similar charge in situations where no bet was transmitted at all.  Neither argument is correct. 

Section 1084 prohibits the transmission of information that assists in the placement of bets or

wagers.  The statute simply does not require a one-to-one correlation, i.e., one transmission, one

bet.  See Truchinski v. United States, 393 F.2d 627, 631 (8th Cir. 1968); United States v. Scavo,

593 F.2d 837, 842 (8th Cir. 1979).

Even if the defendant’s skewed application of the statute is correct, his argument that the

transmissions alleged in the Superseding Indictment are only “tangentially related to wagering”

is incorrect.  The defendant’s claim that transmissions opening or funding a wagering account, or

confirming the amount of money available in a wagering account, do not contain information

assisting in the placing of a bet or wager is simply wrong.  

The defendant’s claim that communications during which undercover law enforcement

agents arranged to have money sent back to the United States are outside the prohibition of

§1084 is equally unsupportable.  The defendant claims that only a communication that

specifically “entitles” a wagerer to money would meet the requirements of the statute.  The

defendant has carefully constructed his description of what sort of transmission would “entitle”

one to receive money, but in reality, the restrictions the defendant describes would limit the Wire

Act to negotiable instruments.  The plain language of the Wire Wager Act does not support such

restrictions, and they should not be applied.
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The defendant further claims that the Wire Act applies only to pay outs from winning

bets, and not to money placed on account with a bookmaker.  According to the defendant, money

returned to a bettor from a wagering account cannot be the “result of bets or wagers,” and

therefore transmissions regarding the return of funds are not prohibited.  However, the statute

does not refer to “winnings.”  Section 1084 states that transmissions “which entitle[] the

recipient to receive money or credit as a result of bets or wagers” are prohibited.  The statute

comprehends promises or arrangements to pay, hence the use of the term “credit.”  Money

deposited in a wagering account is used to place bets; therefore, it is “a result of bets or wagers.” 

The statute encompasses transmissions regarding money to be sent to a bookmaker, as well as

money sent from a bookmaker to a gambler.  See United States v. Corrar, 2007 WL 19682, *5

(N.D. Ga. 2007) (“If Congress sought only to criminalize bookmaking, ‘being engaged in the

business of betting or wagering’ would simply read ‘receives bets or wagers.’).      

III. COUNTS 3 TO 12 PROVIDE ADEQUATE NOTICE OF THE CHARGES
ALLEGED AGAINST THE DEFENDANT

The defendant’s contention that the Wire Wager Act is fatally ambiguous is here restated

as a claim that the Superseding Indictment does not give fair notice of the charges against him. 

As demonstrated above, the claimed ambiguities do not exist.  Matters left in doubt are simply

questions of fact that must be determined by a trial on the merits.   

There are three related manifestations of the fair warning
requirement.  First the vagueness doctrine bars enforcement of ‘a
statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms
so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess
at its meaning and differ as to its application.’  Second, . . . the
cannon of strict construction of criminal statutes, or rule of lenity,
ensures fair warning by resolving ambiguity in a criminal statute as
to apply it only to conduct clearly covered.  Third, . . . due process
bars courts from applying a novel construction of a criminal statute
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purposes than proving a violation of the Wire Wager Act.  As the Government has stated, a Rule
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to conduct that neither the statute nor any prior judicial decision
has fairly disclosed to be within its scope.  In each of these guises,
the touchstone is whether the statute, either standing alone or as
construed, made it reasonably clear at the relevant time that the
defendants’ conduct was criminal.

United States v. Lanier, 520 U.S. 259, 266-67, 117 S.Ct. 1219, 1225, 137 L.Ed.2d 432 (1997)

(interior citations omitted); see also United States v. Carpenter, 422 F.3d 738, 746 (8th Cir.

2005). 

In the Superseding Indictment, each Wire Wager Act count alleges that: (1) the defendant

was a person engaged in the business of betting and wagering; (2) the defendant knowingly used

or caused the use of interstate and foreign communication facilities; (3) to transmit bets and

wagers on sporting events or contests, information which entitled the recipient to receive money

and credit as a result of bets and wagers, and information assisting in the placing of bets and

wagers.  This is sufficient information to allow the defendant to prepare his defense to these

charges.  

If the Court rules that the Wire Wager Act does not extend to non-sports betting, the

defendant can choose to concentrate on only the sports wagering conducted by the Gambling

Enterprise.11  In either case, the Superseding Indictment states all of the information necessary to
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allow the defendant to prepare his defense.  

IV. DISMISSAL OF THE SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT IS AN
INAPPROPRIATE REMEDY IN THIS CASE

Even if the defendant’s claims regarding the scope of the Wire Wager Act were true,

there would be no basis for dismissal of the Superseding Indictment.  At the very most, this

would require striking the non-sports betting allegations in the Indictment.  Excision of these

allegations will not impermissibly alter the charges against the defendant, and will not prejudice

him in the preparation of his defenses or at trial.

Although the general rule is that a court may not amend an indictment, an
exception has been recognized where mere surplusage is eliminated (‘merely a
matter of form’), nothing is added to the indictment, and the remaining allegations
state the essential elements of an offense.

United States v. Nabors, 762 F.2d 642, 647 (8th cir. 1985).  See also United States v. Copple, 827

F.2d 1182, 1188 (8th Cir. 1987) (“When the indictment fully notifies the defendant of the charges

to be met at trial and an amendment results only in a narrowing of criminal liability, the variance

is not a fifth amendment violation.”);  United States v. Dranow, 307 F.2d 545, 558 (8th Cir.

1962).  

Removing references regarding non-sports wagers from the Indictment does not change

the offenses charged, nor deprive the defendant of the ability to prepare to meet the

Government’s case.  

As long as the crime and the elements of the offense that sustain the conviction
are fully and clearly set out in the indictment, the right to a grand jury is not
normally violated by the fact that the indictment alleges more crimes or other
means of committing the same crime.

* * *
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In Salinger v. United States,12 . . . we explicitly held that where an indictment
charges several offenses, or the commission of one offense in several ways, the
withdrawal from the jury’s consideration of one offense or one alleged method of
committing it does not constitute a forbidden amendment of the indictment.

United States v. Miller, 471 U.S. 130, 136 & 145, 105 S.Ct. 1811, 1815 & 1819-20, 85 L.Ed.2d

99 (1985).  

In the Miller opinion, the Supreme Court explicitly overruled Ex Parte Bain, 121 U.S. 1,

7 S.Ct. 781, 30 L.Ed. 849 (1887):

To the extent that Bain stands for the proposition that it constitutes an
unconstitutional amendment to drop from an indictment those allegations that are
unnecessary to an offense that is clearly contained within it, that case has simply
not survived.  To avoid further confusion, we now explicitly reject that
proposition.

Miller, 471 U.S. at 144, 105 S.Ct. at 1819.  See also United States v. Sutera, 933 F.2d 641, 645

(8th Cir. 1991) (“The laundering of proceeds from bookmaking activity is simply a narrower, but

included, offense of laundering proceeds from an illegal gambling business.”); United States v.

Copple, 827 F.2d 1182, 1188 (8th Cir. 1987) (“When the indictment fully notifies the defendant

of the charges to be met at trial and an amendment results only in a narrowing of criminal

liability, the variance is not a fifth amendment violation.”).

If the Court requires excision of “non-sports” betting allegations from the Superseding

Indictment, the language of Counts 3 to 12 would not change, as it is taken directly from the

statute. Nor would the evidence to be presented at trial, as the United States would offer

evidence that the defendant was engaged in non-sports betting as proof of the existence and

operation of the illegal gambling business.  See United States v. Keltner, 147 F.3d 662, 668 (8th
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Cir. 1998).

Therefore, the very most that due process requires, should the Court determine that the

Wire Wager Act does not apply to non-sports wagers, is an instruction to that effect after the

submission of the evidence to the jury. 

The due process clause merely requires that people should not be branded as
criminals without fair notice that the legislature has forbidden certain conduct. 
This does not mean, however, that a defendant will receive the benefit of the
narrowest possible construction of a criminal statute.  ‘All the Due Process Clause
requires is that the law give sufficient warning that men may conduct themselves
so as to avoid that which is forbidden.’  

United States v. Hammond, 821 F.2d 473, 477, n.6 (8th Cir. 1987).
 
V. CONCLUSION

The defendant’s interpretation and application of the Wire Wager Act is not supported by

the language of the statute, or by the applicable case law.  Therefore, the motion to dismiss

Counts 3 to 12 of the Superseding Indictment should be denied.

Respectfully submitted,
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